STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT I

RECEIVED

10-06-2016

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

Appeal No. 2016AP1464-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

-vs.-

SAMUEL SILVERSTEIN,
Defendant-Appellant.

**ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION
FILED ON JUNE 13, 2016, IN THE MILWAUKEE
COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ELLEN
R. BROSTROM, PRESIDING.
MILWAUKEE COUNTY CASE NO. 2015CF2778**

**DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF
AND SHORT APPENDIX**

Respectfully submitted:

LAW OFFICE OF MATTHEW S. PINIX, LLC
1200 East Capitol Drive, Suite 220
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53211
T: 414.963.6164
F: 414.967.9169
matthew@pinixlawoffice.com
www.pinixlawoffice.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the search of Silverstein's home was unconstitutional and the evidence obtained thereby subject to suppression insofar as the warrant affidavit was based on uncorroborated hearsay, included key misrepresentations about the informant's hearsay statements, and failed to include supporting documentation that the affiant purportedly attached?

The trial court concluded that the affidavit set forth sufficient probable cause to support the warrant, and thus denied Silverstein's motion to suppress.

- II. Whether Silverstein was subject to a mandatory minimum penalty based on his conviction for possession of child pornography and, if so, whether applying that penalty in the instant case violated his constitutional due process rights?¹

The trial court concluded that the mandatory minimum penalty applied and that Silverstein's constitutional rights were not violated by its application in the instant case.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Silverstein would welcome oral argument if it would assist the panel to understand the issues presented or answer any unanswered questions that

¹ Silverstein is aware that this Court has recently held that the relevant penalty provision is mandatory as applied to defendants like Silverstein, thus deciding that claim against him. *State v. Holcomb*, 2016 WI App 70, ___ Wis. 2d ___, ___ N.W.2d ___. He nonetheless raises the issue to preserve it because Holcomb's petition for supreme court review is pending at the time of filing this brief, and that court may decide the issue differently. Importantly, *Holcomb* did not decide the related due process issue that Silverstein herein asserts.

may arise, unbeknownst to counsel, during the panel's review of the briefing.

Silverstein does not believe the Court's opinion in the instant case will meet the criteria for publication because resolution of the issues will involve no more than the application of well-settled rules of law and controlling precedent, with no call to question or qualify said precedent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE, PROCEDURAL STATUS, AND DISPOSITION BELOW

Silverstein is on direct appeal from his conviction for possession of child of pornography. (R.27, R.29.) During trial court proceedings, he brought two motions relevant to the instant appeal. (R.8, R.14.)

First, he moved to suppress evidence seized from his home on the ground that the warrant was not supported by probable cause. (R.8.) The State filed a written response. (R.9.) The circuit court held a hearing on Silverstein's motion at which neither party presented evidence. (R.31.) The circuit court denied Silverstein's motion, finding that the police had gathered and deciphered tips as required by law using a resource "that's relied on regularly." (*Id.*:14, 16.) Silverstein sought leave to appeal, which this Court denied. (R.13.)

Silverstein's second motion challenged whether he was subject to a mandatory minimum penalty of no less than three-years' imprisonment. (R.14.) He made a two-part argument: (1) a plain reading of the statute accommodated something less than three years and (2) sentencing him under a mandatory minimum scheme violated his constitutional right to fair notice. (*Id.*) Again the State responded in writing (R.15), and again the circuit court held a hearing at which no evidence

was presented (R.32). The circuit court disagreed with Silverstein, concluding that the mandatory minimum applied to him and its application was not unconstitutional. (R.17.)

Silverstein pled guilty (R.33:5) and was sentenced to a seven-year term of imprisonment (three-years' initial confinement and four-years' extended supervision) (R.34:44). He appeals. (R.29.)

II. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

On July 9, 2015, the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (NCMEC)² told police that Tumblr³ told NCMEC that there was child pornography on one of Tumblr's blogs. (R.8:24, A-Ap 44.) An investigation ensued in which law enforcement never questioned Tumblr about its suspicion of child pornography nor directly viewed the blog at which Tumblr reported child pornography. (*See id.*:24-28, A-Ap 44-48.) Instead, police took as true the things that NCMEC told police that Tumblr told NCMEC. (*Id.*) That investigation eventually led police to Silverstein's house. (*See id.*:23, A-Ap 45.)

About a month after police received NCMEC's allegation, Glendale Police Detective Bryan Bichler submitted an affidavit for a warrant to search Silverstein's home. (*Id.*:24-39, A-Ap 44-59.) According to the affidavit, police were notified by NCMEC that child pornography had been posted to "tumblr.com", a social media site, originating from an IP address of

² "NCMEC" is often pronounced "nikmik."

³ "Tumblr (stylized on its home page as tumblr.) is a microblogging and social networking website founded by David Karp in 2007, and owned by Yahoo! since 2013. The service allows users to post multimedia and other content to a short-form blog. Users can follow other users' blogs. Bloggers can also make their blogs private. For bloggers, many of the website's features are accessed from a 'dashboard' interface. As of September 1, 2016, Tumblr hosts over 312.2 million blogs. As of January 2016, the website had 555 million monthly visitors." <https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tumblr> (last visited Sep. 30, 2016) (footnotes omitted).

99.185.140.72 from the Internet Service Provider AT&T U-Verse.” (*Id.*:24, A-Ap 44.) Det. Bichler averred that “[t]he NCMEC Cybertip listed the reporting agency was Tumblr. Said report indicated on 06/01/15 at about 17:45:00 UTC, Tumblr created a report regarding ‘Child Pornography’ related to URL: ‘famousenemyland.tumblr.com’ with email ssilver58@att.net and IP Address 99.185.140.72.” (*Id.*:27, A-Ap 47.) Det. Bichler additionally reported that an officer from a different department had reviewed the NCMEC tips and determined that the reported child pornography consisted of “eight photos and one video file which were posted to Tumblr.com using account name ‘famousenemyland’. The posts were made primarily from IP Address 99.185.140.72, which was created using the email address ssilver58@att.net.” (*Id.*:24, A-Ap 44.) In support of those assertions, Det. Bichler attached to the warrant affidavit a copy of the NCMEC paperwork purportedly restating what he alleged that Tumblr had reported. (*See id.*:27, 29-39, A-Ap 47, 49-59.)

The NCMEC paperwork to which Det. Bichler referred and submitted with the warrant affidavit does not contain the information that the detective suggested it did. (*Compare id.*:24-25, 27, A-Ap 44-45, 47, *with id.*:29-39, A-Ap 49-59.) Namely, there is nothing in the attached NCMEC paperwork indicating that Tumblr reported that child pornography was posted to famousenemyland.tumblr.com from email address ssilver58@att.net and IP Address 99.185.140.72. (*See id.*:29-39, A-Ap 49-59.) Nor is there anything in the paperwork connecting ssilver58@att.net to IP Address 99.185.140.72. (*See id.*) Nor is there anything showing that the suspicious posts were “made primarily from IP Address 99.185.140.72, which was created using the email address ssilver58@att.net.” (*See id.*:25, A-Ap 45.) As for Det. Bichler’s claim that NCMEC reported that Tumblr had reported nine instances of child pornography—eight pictures and one video—the

attached NCMEC paperwork shows only seven reported instances of child pornography—six pictures and one video. (*Compare id.*:24, A-Ap 44 *with id.*:31, A-Ap 51.) In other words, Det. Bichler’s representations regarding what NCMEC’s allegations contained were inconsistent with the contents of the attached documents meant to show NCMEC’s allegations.

Consistent with Det. Bichler’s assertions, the attached NCMEC paperwork does list the date and time on which Tumblr submitted a report to NCMEC regarding child pornography. (*Id.*:29, 36, A-Ap 49, 56.) However, the paperwork does not include any allegation by Tumblr that the child pornography was associated with IP address 99.185.140.72. (*See id.*:29-39, A-Ap 49-59.) The single reference to that IP address occurs in the NCMEC paperwork under a section entitled “Section B: Automated Information Added by NCMEC Systems.” (*Id.*:34, A-Ap 54.) According to that portion of the NCMEC paperwork, “When a Reporting [electronic service provider] voluntarily reports an IP address for the ‘User or Person Being Reported,’ NCMEC Systems will geographically resolve the IP address via publicly-available online search.” (*Id.*:32, A-Ap 52.) Later in the NCMEC paperwork, the following disclaimer occurs: “The CyberTipline cannot confirm the accuracy of Information found in public records or whether the results are affiliated with any parties relating to this report.” (*Id.*:39, A-Ap 59.)

There is nothing in Det. Bichler’s affidavit or any attachments thereto describing any steps undertaken by police to confirm the veracity of Tumblr’s accusation—provided to police by NCMEC—that child pornography was located at famousenemyland.tumblr.com or was posted there from IP address 99.185.140.72. (*See id.*:24-39, A-Ap 44-59.) The affidavit does not describe any attempt by police to contact Tumblr or the individual employee of

Tumblr named in the CyberTipline report as the reporting individual. (*See id.*:24-28, A-Ap 44-48.) The affidavit is mute with regard to any steps undertaken by police to independently verify that the child pornography Tumblr purportedly located at famousenemyland.tumblr.com actually existed at that location. (*See id.*) The affidavit is similarly mute as to whether police obtained from Tumblr the blog's contents or personally viewed the same to confirm Tumblr's allegations. (*See id.*) It does not describe any attempt by police to contact Tumblr for the same purpose. (*See id.*)

Likewise, the affidavit does not explain how Tumblr came to suspect what Det. Bichler alleged Tumblr had said: that child pornography was posted to famousenemyland.tumblr.com from IP address 99.185.140.72. (*See id.*) There is a complete dearth of information in the affidavit regarding the genesis of Tumblr's suspicion of criminal activity or the manner of its investigation subsequent to forming that suspicion. (*See id.*) Nor does it explain how Tumblr eventually located the child pornography that it sent to NCMEC or what steps were undertaken by Tumblr to ensure the accuracy of its investigative results or the reporting of the same to NCMEC. (*See id.*)

The full extent of the affidavit's reference to Tumblr occurs in three paragraphs, which are here quoted in their entirety:

5. On July 9th, 2015 the Bayside Police Department received two Cybertips from the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (NCMEC). The NCMEC Cybertips were numbered 5034297 and 5044912. These tips reported photos and video of underage females exposing their breasts and genitals posted to 'tumblr.com', a social media site, originating from an IP address of 99.185.140.72 from the Internet Service Provider AT&T U-Verse.

6. Bayside Police Officer Ryan Bowe, a member of the Wisconsin Internet Crimes against Children Task Force (ICAC), received and reviewed the above tips from NCMEC. The NCMEC Cybertip included explicit photographs which PO BOWE viewed. The images consisted of eight photos and one video file which were posted to Tumblr.com using account name ‘famousenemyland’ . . .

11. The NCMEC Cybertip listed the reporting agency was Tumblr. Said report indicated on 06/01/15 at about 17:45:00 UTC, Tumblr created a report regarding ‘Child Pornography’ related to URL: ‘famousenemyland.tumblr.com’ with email ssilver58@att.net and IP Address 99.185.140.72.

(*Id.*:24-25, 27, A-Ap 44-45, 47.) Again, the NCMEC paperwork attached to the affidavit does not validate the representations that Det. Bichler made in those three paragraphs about either the Cybertips or Tumblr’s accusations reportedly therein. (*Compare id. with id.*:29-39, A-Ap 49-59.)

Certainly, the affidavit explains the steps undertaken by police to identify the AT&T subscriber to whom IP address 99.185.140.72 was assigned, including the address associated with that subscription. (*Id.*:25, A-Ap 45.) But it does not explain or offer any reason to believe that Tumblr or the employee named as the reporting individual was truthful or accurate in the purported allegation to NCMEC—unsupported by the attached paperwork—that child pornography was posted to famousenemyland.tumblr.com from IP address 99.185.140.72. (*See id.*:24-28, A-Ap 44-48.)

With regard to the investigation into IP address 99.185.140.72, Det. Bichler averred that Bayside police had ascertained subscription information “[t]hrough subpoenas and search warrants regarding the IP address,” and he claimed that “a copy of the Bayside Police Department’s Affidavit and Subpoena for Documents” was “[a]ttached” and “used as a basis

for th[e] search warrant.” (*Id.*:25, A-Ap 45.) Despite those representations, no such affidavits or subpoenas were attached to the affidavit.

Thus, according to the affidavit, Det. Bichler suspected that Silverstein’s house may have child pornography in it because NCMEC had told police that Tumblr had told it that child pornography was uploaded from an IP address that police later determined that AT&T had assigned to Silverstein who lived in Glendale. However, police had done nothing to verify or corroborate Tumblr’s accusation. The entirety of the police work detailed in the affidavit was purposed on confirming (1) that the reported illicit images constituted child pornography (*id.*:25-28, A-Ap 45-48), (2) to whom IP address 99.185.140.72 belonged (*id.*:24-25, A-Ap 44-45), and (3) where IP address 99.185.140.72 was geographically located (*id.*:24-25, 27, A-Ap 44-45, 47). However, documents referenced in the affidavit and relevant to the related police work—the NCMEC paperwork and Bayside’s affidavits and subpoenas—were withheld or their attached contents favorably misrepresented. (*Compare id. with id.*:29-39, A-Ap 49-59.) The latter set of materials, the affidavits and subpoenas, were meant to undergird two of the three things police did: find out the who and where of IP address 99.185.140.72. (*Id.*:25, A-Ap 45.) But, they are not attached to the affidavit.

Additionally, police never spoke to Tumblr. (*See id.*:24-28, A-Ap 44-48.) Police never saw the blog that Tumblr allegedly affiliated with Silverstein’s IP address; indeed, Tumblr had terminated it so it could not be publicly accessed. (*See id.*) Police never even obtained from Tumblr the contents of that blog, despite Tumblr’s clear willingness to provide such information and detail in the Cybertip on how it could be obtained. (*See id.*; *see also id.*:30, A-Ap 50.) And, police never attested to the believability of Tumblr or its employees or vouched for Tumblr’s investigative

methods. (*See id.*:24-28, A-Ap 44-48.) It was similarly mute regarding NCMEC. (*See id.*)

Based on the evidence seized from his home, Silverstein was arrested and charged with ten counts of possessing child pornography. (R.1.) Following negotiations, Silverstein pled guilty to three counts; the State dismissed and read-in the remaining seven counts. (R.33:5, 9.) Prior to sentencing, Silverstein challenged whether the relevant statute required that he be sentenced to no less than three-years' confinement. (R.14.) The circuit court concluded that there was a mandatory minimum sentence for Silverstein's offense and it applied to him. (R.17.)

At sentencing, the court gave Silverstein that mandatory minimum term of initial confinement. (R.34:44, A-Ap 106.) All parties at sentencing accepted—pursuant to the circuit court's prior decision—that Silverstein was subject to the mandatory minimum. (*Id.*:16-17, 32, 43, A-Ap 78-79, 94, 105.) The State's attorney lobbied for more initial confinement than the mandatory minimum (*id.*:4, A-Ap 66), but the court rejected that argument (*id.*:43-44, A-Ap 94-95). The court “d[id] not think more than the mandatory minimum of three years initial confinement is necessary to meet [the court's sentencing] goal,” “[g]iven [Silverstein's] character, given his lack of prior criminal involvement, and all of the other factors.” (*Id.*)

He appeals. (R.29.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE SEARCH OF SILVERSTEIN’S HOME WAS UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE THE SUPPORTING WARRANT WAS BASED ON AN AFFIDAVIT THAT FAILED TO STATE PROBABLE CAUSE.

A. Summary of Argument and Standard of Review

Upon a challenge to probable cause, the “reviewing court examines the totality of the circumstances presented to the warrant-issuing commissioner to determine whether the warrant-issuing commissioner had a substantial basis for concluding that there was a fair probability that a search of the specified premises would uncover evidence of wrongdoing.” *State v. Romero*, 2009 WI 32, ¶ 3, 317 Wis. 2d 12, 765 N.W.2d 756. While the standard for reviewing a magistrate’s decision to issue a warrant is deferential, a reviewing court “must still insist that the magistrate perform his [or her] ‘neutral and detached’ function and not serve merely as a rubber stamp for the police.” *Aguilar v. Texas*, 378 U.S. 108, 111 (1964) (overruled on other grounds by *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213 (1982)). When deciding whether probable cause existed for the issuance of a search warrant, a reviewing court is “confined to the record that was before the warrant-issuing commissioner.” *Romero*, 2009 WI 32, at ¶ 18, n.11. “[A] probable cause determination must be based upon what a reasonable magistrate can infer from the information presented by the police. . . . The subjective experiences of the magistrate are not part of the probable cause determination.” *State v. Ward*, 2000 WI 3, ¶ 26, 231 Wis. 2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 517. The probable cause standard for search warrants is a practical, nontechnical conception that requires trial courts to deal with “the factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent men,

not legal technicians, act.” *Id.* ¶ 17 (quoting *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 231).

In the instant case, under the totality of the circumstances, the affidavit was clearly insufficient to support the magistrate’s probable cause finding. First, police failed to explain a substantial basis for crediting Tumblr’s original report to NCMEC, which NCMEC in turn reported to police. Second and relatedly, the affidavit included key misrepresentations about Tumblr’s hearsay allegation when the affidavit’s language is juxtaposed against the contents of the attached NCMEC tip. Finally, the affidavit attempted to rely on police work done by the Bayside PD to support the warrant and suggested attachments that could demonstrate the same, but those materials were not actually presented to the reviewing magistrate. When coupled with the failure of law enforcement to verify Tumblr’s hearsay statements, the misrepresentations in and omissions from the affidavit bear directly on the credibility Tumblr’s allegation and the facts necessary to establish probable cause. In light of those facts, the warrant should not have issued. The search of Silverstein’s home was therefore unconstitutional and the evidence seized as a result—both direct and derivative—should have been suppressed. *See Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 485, 488 (1963) (fruit of poisonous tree doctrine). Accordingly, this Court should reverse the circuit court’s denial of Silverstein’s suppression motion.

He offers the following in support.

B. The Affidavit in the Instant Case was Insufficient to Establish Probable Cause Because it did not Present a Substantial Basis for Crediting Tumblr’s Hearsay Statements.

Both the state and federal constitutions accord to private citizens protections against unreasonable

searches and seizures by government agents. U.S. Const. Amend. IV, Wis. Const. Art. 1 Sec. 11. Intrinsic to those protections is the longstanding principle that the right to privacy in one's home is a "sacred right." *Weeks v. United States*, 232 U.S. 383, 391 (1914). "The Fourth Amendment was intended to secure the citizen in person and property against unlawful invasion of the sanctity of his home by officers of the law acting under legislative or judicial sanction." *Id.* at 394 (quoted authority omitted).

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