### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN **12-22-2016**

## COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP1464-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SAMUEL SILVERSTEIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ELLEN R. BROSTROM, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. In its assessment of probable cause to search, the warrant-issuing magistrate properly relied on the affiant's statements attributed to Tumblr's two tips to the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children.

"The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution guarantees that persons shall be secure from unreasonable searches and seizures and sets forth the manner in which warrants shall issue."  $State\ v.\ Sveum,\ 2010\ WI\ 92,\ \P\ 18,\ 328\ Wis.\ 2d\ 369,\ 787\ N.W.2d\ 317\ (quotation\ omitted).$  A valid warrant must be based upon "oath or affirmation that there is probable cause to believe that evidence sought will aid in a particular conviction for a particular offense."  $Id.\ \P\ 20.$ 

"In deciding whether probable cause exists for the issuance of a search warrant, the reviewing court examines the totality of the circumstances presented to the warrant-issuing [magistrate] to determine whether the warrant-issuing [magistrate] had a substantial basis for concluding that there was a fair probability that a search of the specified premises would uncover evidence of wrongdoing." State v. Romero, 2009 WI 32, ¶ 3, 317 Wis. 2d 12, 765 N.W.2d 756 (citation omitted).

The warrant-issuing magistrate reviews the facts before it and makes a "practical, common-sense decision." Id. ¶ 19 (quotation omitted). To do so, the magistrate considers "all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit, including the veracity and basis of knowledge of persons supplying hearsay information." Id. (quotation omitted).

The veracity and basis of knowledge of persons supplying hearsay information is "highly relevant in

determining the value of his report" but not a separate and independent requirement that must be "rigidly exacted" in every case. Id. ¶ 20 (quotation omitted). Instead, the magistrate considers these elements as "closely intertwined issues that may usefully illuminate the commonsense, practical question whether there is probable cause to believe that contraband or evidence is located in a particular place." Id. (quotation omitted).

"This court accords great deference to the warrant-issuing [magistrate's] determination of probable cause, and that determination will stand unless the defendant establishes that the facts are clearly insufficient to support a finding of probable cause." Id. ¶ 18 (quotation omitted). "This deferential standard of review is appropriate to further the Fourth Amendment's strong preference for searches conducted pursuant to a warrant." Id. (quotation omitted).

## A. Additional facts relevant to the issue of probable cause to search Silverstein's home.

Silverstein moved to suppress any evidence linked to the search of his home on the ground that the search warrant affidavit did not establish probable cause that Silverstein's home would contain evidence of a crime. (8.) The search warrant affidavit contained hearsay statements accredited to Tumblr, and Silverstein argued that the affidavit did not contain sufficient information to verify the veracity of that information. (8:13–20.) Silverstein also argued that the search warrant affidavit failed to contain documentation that the affiant swore was attached, and thus, any statements connected to those alleged documents were "misrepresentations." (8:11.)

Relating to the hearsay statements, the search warrant affidavit contained the following:

- 5. On July 9th, 2015 the Bayside Police Department received two Cybertips from the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (NCMEC). The NCMEC Cybertips were numbered 5034297 and 5044912. These tips reported photos and video of underage females exposing their breasts and genitals posted to 'tumblr.com', a social media site, originating from an IP address of 99.185.140.72 from the Internet Service Provider AT&T U-Verse.
- 6. Bayside Police Officer Ryan Bowe, a member of the Wisconsin Internet Crimes against Children Task Force (ICAC), received and reviewed the above tips from NCMEC. The NCMEC Cybertip included explicit photographs which PO BOWE viewed. The images consisted of eight photos and one video file which were posted to Tumblr.com using account name 'famousenemyland'. The posts were made primarily from IP Address 99.185.140.72, which was created using the email address ssilver58@.att.net.

. . . .

- 11. The NCMEC Cybertip listed the reporting agency was Tumblr. Said report indicated on 06/01/15 at about 17:45:00 UTC, Tumblr created a report regarding 'Child Pornography' related to URL: 'famousenemyland.tumblr.com' with email ssilver58@att.net and IP Address 99.185.140.72.
- 12. Attached is a copy of the NCMEC Cybertip, 5044912.

(8:24-27.)

Relating to the officer's investigation, the search warrant affidavit contained the following:

- 7. Through subpoenas and search warrants regarding the IP Address (attached), Officer Bowe was able to determine that the subscriber using the above IP address as Sam Silverstein of 6898 N. Seville Ave in Glendale, WI.
- 8. Attached is a copy of the Bayside Police Department's Affidavit and Subpoena for Documents which is used as a basis for this search warrant.
- 9. A check of WI DOT records showed that a Samuel Silverstein . . . resides at 6898 N. Seville Ave in Glendale.
- 10. The image and video content provided by the NCMEC Cybertip as described by PO BOWE is as follows:

[Descriptions intentionally omitted]

(8:25.)

The affiant did attach CyberTipline Report 5034297 and 5044912 to the affidavit, but attached only the odd numbered pages. (8:29–39.) The affiant did not attach a copy of the Bayside Police Department's Affidavit and Subpoena for Documents.

After a hearing, the circuit court concluded that Silverstein's arguments were without merit. (31:13.) The court reasoned that law enforcement did everything it was supposed to do. (31:13.) The officers reviewed the reports from NCMEC, confirmed that the files attached contained depictions of child pornography, verified the subscriber and location associated with the IP address through a previous warrant, and then applied for the search warrant for

Silverstein's home. (31:13, 15.) The court also concluded that the officers, and the warrant-issuing magistrate, could rely on the tip from Tumblr because Tumblr is "oblig[ed] under the law" to report child pornography and NCMEC corroborates details of the tips like the association of the IP address and email address. (31:15, 17.) The court reasoned that in addition to the inherent veracity of the NCMEC reports, law enforcement did an independent investigation to associate Silverstein with the IP address. (31:17.) The court concluded that the affidavit was illustrative of "due process in action," and the court denied Silverstein's motion. (11; 31:13.)

Silverstein raises the same arguments on appeal. Like the circuit court, this Court should conclude that Silverstein's arguments are without merit because there was sufficient information within the warrant application to establish probable cause to search Silverstein's home.

## B. Tumble is a reliable informant akin to a citizen informant.

"To demonstrate a declarant's veracity, facts must be brought to the warrant-issuing [magistrate's] attention to enable the [magistrate] to evaluate either the credibility of the declarant or the reliability of the particular information furnished." *Romero*, 317 Wis. 2d 12, ¶ 21.

Silverstein contends that the warrant affidavit relied on two layers of hearsay: what Tumblr reported to NCMEC and what NCMEC reported to law enforcement. (Silverstein's Br. 11–13.) He argues that because the affidavit was based on two layers of hearsay, the warrant affidavit had to provide a basis for the magistrate to conclude that both Tumblr and NCMEC were reliable sources. (Silverstein's Br. 11–13.) Silverstein does not

appear to challenge NCMEC's veracity. Rather he argues that the warrant affidavit is insufficient to establish probably cause because it relied upon Tumblr's "incredible, uncorroborated hearsay." (Silverstein's Br. 13–15.)

Silverstein's assertion that Tumblr is the informant is correct. NCMEC has been characterized as "nothing more than a pass-through entity" between the electronic service provider (ESP)<sup>4</sup> and law enforcement. See Manzione v. State, 719 S.E.2d 533, 537 (Ga. Ct. App. 2011). While NCMEC generates reports for law enforcement, the relevant information originates from the ESP, not NCMEC. See State v. Woldridge, 958 So.2d 455, 459 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2007).

For context, NCMEC is a non-profit organization that receives an annual grant from Congress to act as a clearing house for information related to missing and exploited children. *United States v. Ackerman*, 831 F.3d 1292, 1296 (10th Cir. 2016), *reh'g denied* (Oct. 4, 2016). NCMEC's primary authorizing statutes are 18 U.S.C. § 2258A and 42 U.S.C. § 5773(b). *See Ackerman*, 831 F.3d at 1296. Those statutes mandate NCMEC's collaboration with law enforcement in over a dozen different ways. *Id.* Relevant to this case, NCMEC is statutorily obliged to operate its "CyberTipline" as a means of combating Internet child sexual exploitation. *Id.* (citing 42 U.S.C. § 5773(b)).

Under the federal statutory scheme, an ESP like Tumblr is required to report any known child pornography violations to NCMEC. *Id.* If an ESP fails to comply with this obligation, it faces substantial civil and criminal penalties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "Electronic service provider" means an "electronic communication service" provider, as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2510(15) or a "remote computing service" provider as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2711(2).

Id. at 1296-97 (citations omitted). NCMEC, in turn, must forward every report it receives through its CyberTipline to federal law enforcement agencies and is permitted to also forward those reports to state and local law enforcement. *Id.* at 1296 (citing 18 U.S.C. § 2258A(c)).

Before forwarding reports to law enforcement, NCMEC queries the reported IP address using open source search engines to attempt to identify the suspect's geographic location and the Internet Service Provider (ISP) that the suspect uses to access the Internet. *United States v. Keith*, 980 F. Supp. 2d 33, 37 (D. Mass. 2013). As a practical matter, this aids NCMEC in determining who NCMEC should forward the tip to. The relevant geographic and ISP information is added to the report, which is available only to law enforcement agencies. *Id*.

Beyond the general geographic and ISP information, NCMEC forwards the information it receives from ESPs to law enforcement as a pass-through entity and there is no reason to doubt that it does so accurately. *James v. State*, 717 S.E.2d 713, 716 (Ga. Ct. App. 2011). Thus, when considering whether a NCMEC report can contribute to a probable cause determination, it is the veracity of the ESP that is at issue. *Id.*, *see also State v. Sisson*, 883 A.2d 868, 880–81 (Del. Super. Ct. 2005), *aff'd*, 903 A.2d 288 (Del. 2006).

Here, the ESP is Tumblr. Silverstein asserts that Tumblr is an anonymous informant and thus should not be considered reliable unless law enforcement can corroborate the information provided through an independent investigation. (Silverstein's Br. 14–23.) Silverstein is incorrect. Tumblr is not an anonymous informant.

There are three basic types of informants: citizen, confidential, and anonymous. A citizen informant is "someone who happens upon a crime or suspicious activity and reports it to police."  $State\ v.\ Miller,\ 2012\ WI\ 61,\ \P\ 31$  n.18, 341 Wis. 2d 307, 815 N.W.2d 349 (citation omitted). A confidential informant is someone "often with a criminal past him-or her-self, who assists the police in identifying and catching criminals." Id. And finally, an anonymous informant is someone "whose identity is unknown even to the police." Id.

The NCMEC reports identify the name and contact information for the person working at Tumblr who submitted the tips. (8:30, 37.) Thus, the identity of the informant is not unknown to police. Nonetheless, Silverstein argues that the identity of the submitter is of no consequence, because it is unclear if the person who submitted the report was the same person who discovered Silverstein's blogcontained child pornography. that (Silverstein's Br. 14–15.) Silverstein's argument assumes that a person must be involved in the discovery of child pornography. That is not always the case. See Keith, 980 F. Supp. 2d at 37 (explaining the automated process used by AOL).

Thus, courts have concluded that an ESP like Tumblr, as an entity, is more akin to a citizen informant than to a confidential or anonymous informant. This is due in part to the statutory scheme that requires an ESP to report any known child pornography violations to NCMEC, and that imposes substantial civil and criminal penalties for failing to do so. *See*, *e.g.*, *People v. Pierre*, 29 N.Y.S.3d 110, 117 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2016) (Google was not acting as a confidential informant when it reported suspected child pornography to NCMEC – and generally there is no skepticism toward the reliability and basis of knowledge for such a report); *James*,

717 S.E.2d at 716 (employee was witness to a possible crime and was acting in the role of concerned citizen when disclosing suspected child pornography to NCMEC); Woldridge, 958 So.2d at 458–59 (AOL's compliance with federal law mandating that it report child pornography to NCMEC provided presumption of reliability akin to that afforded to a citizen informant); Sisson, 883 A.2d at 879–81 (AOL is not an anonymous source; it is a recognized, well-established Internet provider, and "essentially a citizen witness to a crime").

From the State's research, it appears to be well accepted that an ESP's tip of suspected child pornography is reliable. See, e.g., People v. Rabes, 258 P.3d 937, 941 (Colo. App. 2010), as modified on denial of reh'g (Feb. 3, 2011) (tips of suspected child pornography resulting from federally mandated reporting requirements are reliable); United States v. Cameron, 652 F. Supp. 2d 74, 82 (D. Me. 2009) (accepting the assertion that information coming from Yahoo! and the NCMEC carries significant indicia of reliability). Wisconsin should follow suit, and this Court should conclude that when assessing veracity of hearsay statements, an ESP's tip of suspected child pornography is akin to a citizen informant's tip of witnessed criminal activity.

# C. The search warrant affidavit contained sufficient information to assess Tumblr's veracity.

Silverstein argues that the search warrant affidavit did not provide sufficient information to assess Tumblr's veracity because the attached NCMEC reports did not corroborate what the affiant alleged to be contained within the reports, and the affiant did not provide sufficient details

regarding the processes by which Tumblr detects and reports suspected child pornography. (Silverstein's Br. 16–23.)

As an initial matter, the affiant did not need to attach documentation to corroborate the hearsay statements. A "search warrant may be based on hearsay information as long as it is shown that the information is substantially reliable." State v. Benoit, 83 Wis. 2d 389, 394-95, 265 N.W.2d 298 (1978) (citation omitted). As addressed above, in the context of a NCMEC report, Tumblr, and the information it provides. is substantially reliable. Furthermore, it is clear from the record that the NCMEC reports attached to the warrant application contained only the odd numbered pages of those reports. (8:29–39.) NCMEC provides the reports by VPN (virtual private network) access (8:35), thus there is no reason to conclude that law enforcement did not have the full reports. It appears that there was simply a copying error when the reports were reproduced for the warrant application.

Courts attach a presumption of validity with respect to an affidavit supporting a search warrant. See Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 171 (1978); State v. Anderson, 138 Wis. 2d 451, 463, 406 N.W.2d 398 (1987). Thus, this Court presumes that the actual NCMEC reports contained the information that the affiant alleged was included in those reports. It is Silverstein's burden to show otherwise, and he has not attempted to do so.

To challenge "the veracity of statements in support of a search warrant, the defendant must first make a substantial preliminary showing that a false statement knowingly and intentionally, or with reckless disregard for the truth, was included by the affiant in the warrant affidavit and that the allegedly false statement is necessary to the finding of probable cause." *Anderson*, 138 Wis. 2d at 462 (citing *Franks*, 438 U.S. at 155–56).

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